
Adopted:  June 13, 2024 – As Written 

 
CONWAY PLANNING BOARD  

 
MINUTES 

 
MAY 9, 2024 

 
  
 PAGES 
 
  1 Review and Acceptance of Minutes 

 December 14, 2023 – Non-Public – Adopted as written 
 April 11, 2024 – Adopted as written 

 
  1 Continuum at North Conway, LLC (File #FR24-02) – Full Site  
   Plan Review (PID 246-65.1) 

 Conditionally Approved 
 
  2 Public Hearing – Tree Removal on a Scenic Road – RSA 231:158 
 
  3 Other Business 

 Continuum at North Conway, LLC (File #NA24-07) – PID 
246-65.7 

 Settlers R1, Inc. (File #NA24-08) – PID 235-99 

 1675 WMH, LLC (File #NA24-09) – PID 235-85 

 Christopher and Tracy Roberge Strout (File #S23-18) – 
Request to extend conditional approval (PID 216-73.1) 

 HOP Grant Committee Update 

 Selectmen’s Report 

 Issues for Consideration 

 Media Questions 



Adopted: June 13, 2024 – As Written 

Page 1 of 7 
 

CONWAY PLANNING BOARD 
 

MINUTES 
 

MAY 9, 2024 
 
A meeting of the Conway Planning Board was held on Thursday, May 9, 2024, beginning at 6:00 
p.m. at the Conway Town Office, Conway, NH. Those present were: Chair, Benjamin Colbath; 
Selectmen’s Representative, Steven Porter; Vice Chair, Ailie Byers; Secretary, Erik Corbett; Eliza 
Grant; Bill Barbin; Ted Phillips; Alternate, Nat Lucy; Town Planner, Ryan O’Connor; and Zoning 
Officer, Nicholas DeVito.  
 
REVIEW AND ACCEPTANCE OF MINUTES 
 
Mr. Porter made a motion, seconded by Ms. Byers, to approve the minutes of the December 
14, 2023, non-public meeting, as written. Motion carried unanimously. 
 
Ms. Byers made a motion, seconded by Mr. Porter, to approve the minutes of the April 11, 
2024, meeting as written. Motion carried unanimously. 
 
CONTINUUM AT NORTH CONWAY, LLC (FILE #FR24-02) – FULL SITE PLAN 
REVIEW (PID 246-65.1) 
 
Mr. Barbin made a motion, seconded by Ms. Byers, to accept the application of Continuum 
at North Conway, LLC for a full site plan review as complete with the staff report. Motion 
carried unanimously.  
 
Kate Richardson of Bergeron Technical Services appeared before the Board, representing 
Continuum at North Conway. This is an application to construct a 1,500 square foot drive-thru 
restaurant with associated infrastructure on Commercial Drive, North Conway.   
 
Chair Colbath asked for Board comment.  
 
The Board expressed concern regarding the placement of the drive-thru window, preferring that it 
be located on the blind side of the building. Ms. Byers suggested adding screening, if it cannot be 
moved. 
 
The Board discussed the phasing of the project and noted that the townhouses were originally 
scheduled to be built first. Chair Colbath reminded the Board they cannot define what is built on 
a lot.  
 
Shawn Bergeron of Bergeron Technical Services appeared before the Board, representing 
Continuum at North Conway. He noted the plan was approved by the Board on July 5, 2022. He 
explained that the economics are changing, which impacts the phasing. The next approval 
Ridgeline will seek is for residential and moving of the medical facilities.  
 
 



Adopted: June 13, 2024 – As Written 
CONWAY PLANNING BOARD – MAY 9, 2024 

Page 2 of 7 
 

The Board agreed they would like as much screening as possible. Mr. O'Connor noted stacking 
dictates the location of the drive-thru window and that year-round screening could be added as a 
condition of approval.  
 
Ms. Richardson agreed to remove the driveway in the buffer. She verified the DOT permit allows 
for a drive-thru restaurant.  
 
Chair Colbath asked for public comment. 
 
Mr. O'Connor said the waivers were approved as part of the original site plan. He verified that the 
propane tank will be buried.  
 
Chair Colbath closed public comment.  
 
Mr. O'Connor read the conditions of approval.  
 
Mr. Barbin made a motion, seconded by Mr. Porter, to conditionally approve the full site 
plan review for Continuum at North Conway, LLC conditionally upon Town Engineer 
approval; a revised NHDOT Driveway Permit and indicating permit number on plan or 
confirmation from NHDOT that the existing permit includes the proposed project; 
indicating abutters PID 246-62 (Walmart) and PID 246-38 (RGMZ) on plans; adding uses 
for abutters to plans (per §110-6.A.); removing the “Proposed Pylon Sign” located on the 
northeast corner of the property; adding landscaping to the plan which sufficiently screens 
the drive-thru pickup window from Eastman Road; adding a plan note stating any propane 
for fuel storage tanks must be buried; adding a plan note that all mechanical equipment shall 
be fully screened; all pavement within the vegetative buffer shall be removed; revising 
waivers granted table if necessary; submitting four copies of revised plans with original 
stamps and signatures; $200 for Inspection Fees; submitting a cost estimate for site 
improvements and landscaping; a performance guarantee for all on-site improvements [if 
necessary]; a performance guarantee for all off-site improvements [if necessary]; when the 
conditions have been met the plans can be signed out-of-session; and this conditional 
approval will expire on November 14, 2024. Motion carried unanimously.  
 
PUBLIC HEARING – TREE REMOVAL ON A SCENIC ROAD – RSA 231:158 
 
This is a public hearing for trimming and removing trees and brush along designated scenic roads 
West Side Road, Crown Hill Road, Greeley Road, Gulf Road, and Leavitt Road to facilitate utility 
services. 
 
Bob Berner, Eastern Region Arborist for Eversource, appeared before the Board. He reviewed the 
trimming specifications. All property owners impacted will be contacted. The contractor is 
Asplundh Tree Expert. Work is scheduled to begin around the fourth quarter of 2024.  
 
Chair Colbath asked for Board comment.  
 
Ms. Byers asked for details about the process of notifying residential property owners regarding 
trimming and removing trees.  



Adopted: June 13, 2024 – As Written 
CONWAY PLANNING BOARD – MAY 9, 2024 

Page 3 of 7 
 

Mr. Berner said some trees are exhibiting signs of the Emerald ash borer, which can ultimately kill 
the tree.  
 
Chair Colbath asked for public comment; there was none.  
 
Chair Colbath closed public comment.  
 
Mr. Porter made a motion, seconded by Mr. Barbin, to approve the proposed tree cutting on 
scenic roads. Motion carried unanimously.  
 
OTHER BUSINESS 
 
Continuum at North Conway, LLC (File #NA24-07):  
 
Shawn Bergeron of Bergeron Technical Services appeared before the Board representing 
Continuum at North Conway. This is a non-applicable request to construct a 6,985 square foot 
District Heating Plant and a 1,200 square foot maintenance garage with associated infrastructure 
on Ridgeline Circle, North Conway (PID 246-65.7).  Mr. Bergeron reviewed the full site plan, 
which was approved on July 5, 2022.  
 
All 17 first step housing foundations are in place. This aspect of the plan will be completed in 
2024. Lot 3 was originally approved for a heat plant; this will be changed to residential housing. 
Lot 4 was approved as a daycare, but they have not been able to secure a tenant; they are 
considering building an athletic club instead. Lot 5 was originally a group of first step housing 
units; the medical office buildings will be moved here instead. Lot 6 will be 55+ single-family 
homes. Lot 7 is planned for assisted living/memory care/skilled nursing, but will not be completed 
for at least two years. Lot number 8 will be residential. Lot number 9 is being reworked and will 
need site plan review in the future. 
 
Mr. Bergeron asked for a non-applicable for the proposed district heating facility and the 
maintenance facility located on Lot 7. The cleared area in front of it will be loamed and seeded 
until the planned structure is built. The primary heat source is wood chips, with a propane backup. 
The facility will provide domestic hot water and heating, plus snow melt for sidewalks and 
driveway in lots 4,5, 6,7, and 8. It will also providing air conditioning for some structures.  
 
Chair Colbath asked for Board comment. Chair Colbath asked for details on the heating facility. 
Mr. Bergeron said the emissions from the plant are heavily regulated by the NHDES. He noted the 
boilers produce little sound and the buildings will be insulated.  
 
Ms. Grant asked where the rerouted recreation trail will be located and Mr. Bergeron said it will 
be behind the heat plant. 
 
Mr. Colbath asked about the delivery of wood chips and the stormwater runoff. Mr. Bergeron 
said Benitas Way (sp) will be modified to accommodate heavier truck traffic. The storm runoff 
has been taken into consideration by Jones & Beach. He noted that full bonding has been 
provided for Lot 7.  
 



Adopted: June 13, 2024 – As Written 
CONWAY PLANNING BOARD – MAY 9, 2024 

Page 4 of 7 
 

Ms. Byers asked about the green space reduction due to the facility being moved from Lot 3 to 
Lot 7. Mr. Bergeron said it is within the green space requirements. The wetland setback will be 
met.  
 
Ms. Byers asked how the deadlines would be affected, if the non-applicable was denied. Mr. 
Bergeron said it would affect the project timing and they could miss their window of opportunity.  
 
Ms. Grant said the rule with non-applicable is that it is a function of an existing development. 
However, there is no existing development on the lot. Mr. Bergeron said he has discussed this 
with Mr. O'Connor.  
 
Mr. O'Connor voiced concern over the abutters not being notified. He would be more 
comfortable getting everything on the plan as part of a site plan review. He noted it is a unique 
use of this site.  
 
The Board reiterated their concern over abutters not being notified, especially regarding the 
smokestack.  

Mr. Bergeron said they will be happy to do whatever the Board requests.  

Chair Colbath asked for public comment.  
 
Evan Lucy asked if there would be a stockpile of wood chips. Mr. Bergeron explained trucks will 
deliver wood chips into a hopper.  
 
Chair Colbath closed public comment.  
 
Chair Colbath made a motion in the affirmative, seconded by Mr. Porter, that the Planning 
Board determined that based on the provisions of §110-4. A.(5), regarding applicability, that 
the construction of a 6,985 square foot District Heating Plant and a 1,200 square foot 
maintenance garage with associated infrastructure is not subject to a Full Site Plan Review 
because it has been demonstrated that the change of use and/or physical changes to the site 
are insignificant relative to the existing development. Motion did not carry 0-6-1, with Chair 
Colbath voting present. 
 
Settlers R1, Inc. (File #NA24-08):  
 
Michael Mitchroney of OVP Management appeared before the Board. This is a non-applicable 
request to allow a food truck at 2 Common Court, North Conway (PID 235-99). Mr. Mitchroney 
explained they requested approval for a food truck in this location last year before the zoning 
ordinance was in place, and it was approved. He noted all requirements are met.  
 
Mr. Barbin asked if a zoning permit application was submitted. Mr. O'Connor said not at this time. 
The zoning permit will need to be obtained. Mr. Mitchroney said he would do this.  
 
Mr. O'Connor reviewed the new application process. Mr. Barbin noted there is information missing 
from the application.  



Adopted: June 13, 2024 – As Written 
CONWAY PLANNING BOARD – MAY 9, 2024 

Page 5 of 7 
 

Mr. Mitchroney said the application was submitted prior to the April 9th vote.  
 
Mr. O'Connor reviewed the conditions of approval.  
 
Ms. Grant made a motion, seconded by Mr. Porter, that the Planning Board determined that 
based on the provisions of §110-4. A.(5), regarding applicability, a food truck is not subject 
to a Full Site Plan Review because it has been demonstrated that the change of use and/or 
physical changes to the site are insignificant relative to the existing development conditionally 
upon any Food Truck operating within the designated area is required to submit a current 
state health permit, based on where the vehicle is registered, with any application. A current 
state permit is required to be on display during operation; hours of operation are limited to 
the operating hours of the primary commercial use which the Food Truck is located; the 
Town of Conway reserves the right to inspect any establishment and revoke approval if the 
conditions are not being met or maintained or if the use is deemed to exceed the capacity of 
the site; and complying with conditions as stated in §170, Vending Carts and Food Trucks.  
Motion carried unanimously.  
 
1675 WMH, LLC (File #NA24-09):  
 
Michael Mitchroney of OVP Management appeared before the Board. This is a non-applicable 
request to allow a permanent food truck location at 1675 White Mountain Highway, North Conway 
(PID 235-85). 
 
Mr. Porter expressed concern over the location, due to retail windows being blocked. Mr. 
Mitchroney said there have been food trucks in this location in the past and they do not block the 
front windows. He noted the other side of the walkway is not wide enough. There is also no lease 
violation.  
 
Chair Colbath asked if they have received Fire Chief approval and Mr. Mitchroney said he has not 
spoken with him yet. It was not brought up in the past, when other food trucks were in this location. 
The Board agreed they would like to see this occur before appearing before the Board in the future.  
 
Mr. O'Connor reviewed the conditions of approval.  
 
Mr. Porter made a motion, seconded by Mr. Corbett, that the Planning Board determined 
that based on the provisions of §110-4. A.(5), regarding applicability, a food truck is not 
subject to a Full Site Plan Review because it has been demonstrated that the change of use 
and/or physical changes to the site are insignificant relative to the existing development 
conditionally upon any Food Truck operating within the designated area is required to 
submit a current state health permit, based on where the vehicle is registered, with any 
application. A current state permit is required to be on display during operation; hours of 
operation are limited to the operating hours of the primary commercial use which the Food 
Truck is located; the Town of Conway reserves the right to inspect any establishment and 
revoke approval if the conditions are not being met or maintained or if the use is deemed to 
exceed the capacity of the site; and complying with conditions as stated in §170, Vending 
Carts and Food Trucks.  Motion carried unanimously.  
 



Adopted: June 13, 2024 – As Written 
CONWAY PLANNING BOARD – MAY 9, 2024 

Page 6 of 7 
 

Evan Lucy noted he visited Settlers Green and that the Board is doing a good job.  
 
Christopher and Tracy Roberge Strout (File #S23-18) – Request to extend conditional 
approval (PID 216-73.1): 
 
Mr. O'Connor explained they are close to meeting conditional approval.  
 
Mr. Porter made a motion, seconded by Ms. Grant , to extend the conditional approval until 
November 14, 2024. Motion carried unanimously. 
 
HOP Grant Committee Update:  
Mr. O’Connor gave an update on the grant committee.  
 
Selectman’s Report: 
 
Mr. Porter had no report at this time. Ms. Byers asked if they were considering the budget. Mr. 
Porter said they will be closely monitoring potential budget increases. Mr. O'Connor noted they 
have applied for funding from Invest New Hampshire, which they will find out about this month.  
 
Issues for Consideration 
 
Chair Colbath asked the Board if they would be amenable to adding wording regarding a maximum 
amount of fill that can be added or topsoil that can be removed to the site plan review. Mr. 
O'Connor will do this and present it to the Board.  
 
Ms. Grant suggested looking into large-scale commercial development around rivers. Mr. 
O'Connor said this will be addressed at the next workshop.  
 
Ms. Grant suggested changes to the green space requirements.  
 
Mr. Colbath made a motion, seconded by Mr. Porter, to move this topic to a public hearing 
on May 23, 2024. Motion carried unanimously.  
 
The Board discussed proposed changes to the application checklist.  
 
Mr. DeVito said up-lighting on buildings is starting to occur around town. He noted there are 
zoning ordinances against up-lighting signs, but not buildings. He asked the Board how this should 
be handled. They agreed this is a zoning violation, as lighting needs to be dark sky compliant. Mr. 
O'Connor noted the need to meet requirements regarding maximum illumination on a site as well.  
 
Media Questions  
 
Tom Eastman, Conway Daily Sun, asked for Board reaction to the reader board at Eagles Way, 
and if they view it as visual pollution. Chair Colbath said the ordinance states no reader boards are 
allowed, and ordinances are the will of the people. Mr. Eastman said he felt that a reader board at 
a busy intersection is a safety issue. The Board noted the bank is paying to relocate the existing 
sign to accommodate the addition of a turning lane.  



Adopted: June 13, 2024 – As Written 
CONWAY PLANNING BOARD – MAY 9, 2024 

Page 7 of 7 
 

Mr. Eastman asked why the Board continued the Ridgeline project. The Board reiterated they do 
not feel comfortable granting a non-applicable. They are in support of the project, but feel more of 
a public process would be fitting for the site.  
 
Meeting was adjourned at 7:49 p.m. 
 
Respectfully submitted,  
Beth Hanggeli 




















